Yale University

EliScholar – A Digital Platform for Scholarly Publishing at Yale

Yale Medicine Thesis Digital Library

School of Medicine

1-1-2019

Home Visits In Internal Medicine Graduate Medical Education

Amitte Rosenfeld

Follow this and additional works at: https://elischolar.library.yale.edu/ymtdl

Part of the Medicine and Health Sciences Commons

Recommended Citation

Rosenfeld, Amitte, "Home Visits In Internal Medicine Graduate Medical Education" (2019). *Yale Medicine Thesis Digital Library*. 3528. https://elischolar.library.yale.edu/ymtdl/3528

This Open Access Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the School of Medicine at EliScholar – A Digital Platform for Scholarly Publishing at Yale. It has been accepted for inclusion in Yale Medicine Thesis Digital Library by an authorized administrator of EliScholar – A Digital Platform for Scholarly Publishing at Yale. For more information, please contact elischolar@yale.edu.

Home Visits in Internal Medicine Graduate Medical Education

A Thesis Submitted to the Yale University School of Medicine in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Medicine

By Amitte Rosenfeld

Yale School of Medicine 2019

Abstract: Home-based care training is largely absent from internal medicine (IM) graduate medical education, and home-based care program evaluation largely focuses on resident attitudes and satisfaction, rather than impact on practice or the patient experience. In the 2015-16 academic year, the Yale Primary Care Internal Medicine residency program (YPC) incorporated required home visits for all PGY-1s and PGY-2s. These visits are intended to build unique clinical skillsets, enhance education about the role of psychosocial determinants of health, and potentially impact resident wellbeing. A qualitative method was used to evaluate this program with the goal of characterizing the impact of one-time home visits as an educational intervention for resident trainees, and as a home-based clinical care experience for patients. From July –Oct 2016 semi-structured interviews were conducted with YPC residents who had participated in home visits (n=9) and with visited patients from the resident panels (n=10). Patient and randomly chosen control charts were also reviewed for socio-demographics, healthcare utilization and comorbidities (Charlson Co-morbidity Index) and data was analyzed using chi-squared significance testing. Interview analysis identified emerging themes. Key provider topics included: 1. Educational value; 2. Patient impact; and 3. Impact on burnout. Key patient topics included: 1. Provider relationship impact; 2. Improved communication; and 3. Resource connections. This work is unique in evaluating the impact that one-time visits with residents, can have for patients. As time investment and funding are often obstacles to program implementation in graduate medical education, this implies that even infrequent home visit opportunities can be a worthwhile addition to residency training for both residents and patients.

Acknowledgements

It would be impossible to fully express my appreciation for the people and communities who have made this project possible. An immeasurable amount of gratitude to my research advisor, Dr. Tracy Rabin, for her encouragement, guidance and incredible thoughtfulness and dedication. I feel so fortunate to have her as a mentor and this project would not have been possible in both very practical and more intangible ways without her support and investment. Many thanks to the Patient and Family Advisory Council, the Equity Research and Innovation Center and other faculty and staff for their advice, input and insight during project development and research design. Many thanks as well to the residents and patients who gave their time to be interviewed and were willing to share their personal experiences and stories so openly.

Funding for this project was possible thanks to NIH National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney diseases.

Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION	1
Figure 1: Overview of different types of home-based medical care	2
BENEFITS OF HOME-BASED CARE	4
HEALTHCARE PROFESSIONAL EDUCATION AND HOME-BASED CARE	9
BURNOUT AND GRADUATE MEDICAL EDUCATION	12
CONCLUSION AND NEXT STEPS	13
PURPOSE	15
METHODS	16
SETTING AND PARTICIPANTS	16
PROGRAM DESCRIPTION	16
QUALITATIVE DESIGN	18
INSTRUMENTS	18
Table 1: Overview of topics included in interview guides	19
COLLECTION	20
ANALYSIS	21
RESULTS	21
HOME VISIT PATIENT DEMOGRAPHICS AND COMPARISON WITH CONTROLS	21
Table 2: Descriptive statistics of patients chosen for home visits and assigned controls	22
Figure 2: Healthcare utilization and co-morbidity scores of patients chosen by residents for hom	ne
visits compared to controls	23
QUALITATIVE RESULTS	23
Table 3: Themes and sub-themes identified from interviews	24
RESIDENTS	24
Table 4: Provider themes and representational quotes from interviews.	30
PATIENTS	30
Table 5: Patient themes and representational quotes from interviews.	34
CONCEPT MAP	34
Figure 3: Deep dive into factors mediating relationship between home visits and identified then	nes
	35
Figure 4: Concept map depicting connection between home visits and end outcomes identified through interviews	36
DISCUSSION	36
LIMITATIONS	41
Figure 5: Neighborhood information worksheet completed by PGY-1s and medical/pharmacy	
students prior to each home visit Figure 6: Reflection exercise completed by PGV 1s and medical/pharmacy students after home	44
visits	ΔΔ
NEXT STEPS	<u>4</u> 5
CONCLUSION	46
	-10

Introduction

Physicians have been visiting patients and providing home-based care for decades. As recently as 1930, 40% of physician encounters were done in the home (1). Over the 20th century, as medical care became more specialized, and systems of care delivery and payment evolved, these visits became less frequent, dropping to <1% by 1980. Home-based care today is primarily provided for those who are unable to come to the office due to accessibility or frailty and is provided by a fraction of primary care physicians, as well as palliative care and geriatric physicians.

Recently home-based care has been making a comeback. According to Medicare data, between 2000 and 2007 physician home visits increased from 1.5 million to almost 2 million (1). This may in part be due to changes in Medicare reimbursements and billing code definitions, making it more financially feasible for physicians to make home visits part of their practice (1). A thorough review of the literature was not able to uncover more recent estimates, however according to calculations done by this author [AR], based on 2016 Medicare utilization data, this number has continued to rise to 2.6 million in 2016 (2). However, despite this increase, as a percentage of outpatient visits billed to Medicare, home visits overall make up only ~1% of all outpatient visits billed to Medicare¹ (2). Likewise, in terms of reach, from 2011-2014, only ~2% of Medicare beneficiaries received medical care at least once in the home (3) and despite an increase in number of visits, fewer overall physicians are making home visits (4).

¹ Defined as # services billed as home visit CPT codes vs # services billed as home visit or office visit CPT codes in CY2016. Does not include assisted living facility visits.

Home-based medical care covers a wide range of types of care delivery- varying by who is providing that care, by the type of care or goals of the care provided, and by timeframe over which the care is delivered. Figure 1 depicts a visual overview of the different types of home-based care provided by physicians. A key differentiation between home-based care programs is whether they provide longitudinal comprehensive primary care, where every primary care interaction is done in the patients' home, versus integrated models, where patients receive some combination of home-based and officebased care. This may include visits after a patient leaves the hospital to support the transition home, preventive visits done one-time or on a regular basis to identify issues in the home that are affecting a patients' health such as home safety evaluations or medication reconciliations, and/or visits done to inform specific identified issues such as frequent admissions or concern for medication management.



Figure 1: Overview of different types of home-based medical care

Significant research exists showing the benefits of providing medical care in the home, some of which is summarized below. However, despite its long history, there is still significant discussion over the optimal model of home-based care delivery and the desired goals of home-based care programs. Further, questions remain over the ideal targets of these interventions: who might benefit the most and for whom the care is cost-effective.

In light of the recent uptrend in home visits, and the important role of home-based care in our modern healthcare system, the role of home visits in graduate medical education have received more focus. Residents have voiced that they feel that home-based care is an important part of care delivery and that they do not feel adequately trained to provide that care (5). Likewise, major health provider organizations including the American Medical Association and the American college of Physicians have encouraged increased focus on education and exposure to home-based care (1). However, despite this increased focus, the patient perspective, namely understanding the patient experience of home visits, particularly when delivered by trainees, is notably missing from the literature.

In addition to being an important part of comprehensive primary care education, home visits have been associated with higher levels of practice satisfaction (6) and can help to foster the patient-physician relationship, creating opportunities to develop more satisfying relationships with patients (7-9). In a time where there is increased focus on resident wellbeing and methods to reduce burnout, this provides a potential opportunity to contribute to resident feelings of meaning in their work.

A deeper dive on some of the above mentioned topics will shed light what has been learned over the years and which areas require further research for home visit

programs to be more optimally utilized in healthcare and medical education systems today.

Benefits of Home-Based Care

Longitudinal Approaches to Home-Based Care

The most robust research on home-based care focuses on longitudinal, comprehensive home-based primary care programs and tends to focus on homebound patients, often elderly, who are unable to attend an ambulatory clinic. These programs have been shown to have positive functional and qualitative outcomes. Program evaluations and systemic reviews have suggested that home-based primary care leads to fewer hospitalizations and readmissions, fewer skilled nursing facility (SNF) and long term care admissions, and reduced ED visits and hospital bed days (10-14). Qualitative improvements include increased quality of life for both patients and caregivers, lower caregiver burden, and increased rate of preventative health screenings (10, 11, 15).

The VA has had a Home Based Primary Care (HBPC) program for patients with advanced chronic diseases and disabilities since the 1970s (16). Since the 1980s they have been showing significant cost savings in addition to increased patient and caregiver satisfaction (17). Recent analyses have found costs to be ~12% lower than projected and hospitalizations to be ~25% lower than in periods without home-based care (18). Outside the VA, studies of other home-based primary care programs have begun to show similar results. Two recent matched cohort studies, one looking at a traditional fee for service model and one in an integrated health care/health insurance system, found higher up front costs but significant long-term savings particularly at end of life for elderly, medically complex patients receiving home-based primary care (19, 20). These studies suggest that

what has been shown for decades in the contained system of the VA still plays out in more traditional payment structures and settings.

Importantly, the literature points to team-based and coordinated care being a key component of success for home-based care. A systematic review found that a key characteristic that was shared by many successful home-based primary care programs, was the existence of inter-professional teams and, in particular, holding regular interprofessional care meetings (10). Another program found that moving to a team care model that included a nurse practitioner, a social worker, and an administrative assistant improved physician satisfaction and increased the number of patients they were able to serve, without negatively impacting hospitalizations, readmissions or patient satisfaction (21). One author noted that "[integrated services] may provide better coordination of services and prevent unnecessary admissions. Another possible factor leading to lower utilization may [be] the [Home Care Program's] ability to connect these patients with needed community resources" (13).

Among longitudinal home-based care initiatives there is wide variation in program design, and some disagreement over the effectiveness of different models. Some provide routine ambulatory care in the patient's home (seeing patients as needed based on severity of illness), while others have standardized monthly visits, regardless of patient health status, either by an NP or physican. Programs often continue to follow patients during hospitalizations, admitting and treating patients under the program MD, or at least coordinating a discharge plan before transition back home (10, 13, 15). Many also provide mechanisms for urgent calls and/or 24 hour telephone call access (10, 13).

Integrated Home-Based Care Models

As an alternative to longitudinal care, some institutions have established integrated or mixed home-based care models, which bring together home-based and ambulatory care. These programs range from discharge management and transitional care to one-time or regular preventative home visits for the elderly and chronically ill. Discharge planning tends to focus on the time directly after discharge, providing intensive home-based care until the patient is stabilized and with the aim to reduce unnecessary readmissions (22).

While there has been significant literature supporting the importance of nonlongitudinal programs, the specific outcome findings have been mixed. A number have found reduction in overall mortality and reduced admissions to long-term care and 24), and some reviews suggest no effect at all (25). One explanation given for mixed results is varying inclusion criteria and trial characteristics. A number of recent systemic reviews and meta-analyses have focused on preventive home visits, but programs included vary significantly in terms of goals of the intervention and who is involved- both patients and personnel (25, 26). Visits may encompass a wide range of goals including falls prevention, multidimensional geriatric assessment (medical, functional, psychosocial and environmental), medication review and/or providing referrals to services. Personnel conducting the visits may include physicians, social workers, therapists, nurses, and/or other health professionals and providers. Additionally, many of the studies were conducted outside the United States. This can make comparability difficult given vast differences in health care systems and payment structures. More recently, a 2015 study looked at Medicare beneficiaries enrolled in the *HouseCalls* program, which provides an

annual home visit by a physician or nurse practitioner as well as care coordination with the patient's primary care provider (27). *HouseCalls* is a program offered by UnitedHealth Group to members of qualified Medicare Advantage Plans regardless of underlying health conditions. The researchers used a difference in difference approach to analysis and found a reduction in hospital and nursing home admissions and an increase in office visits.

Importantly, the existing literature primarily evaluates and describes programs focused on specific populations such as elderly, hospital discharges or the chronically ill. Other integrated models such as those focusing on non-homebound, non-elderly patients for one-time consultative visits or to intensively address a short-term medical issue are not well described (22).

Some authors have pointed out that the primary value of the home visit lies in the opportunity to observe pieces of the patient experience, which can't be assessed effectively in the clinic. One author notes:

Exploring the patient's environment yields a wealth of new information that is both quantitative, such as previously missed diagnoses or discrepancies in medication regimens, and qualitative in terms of grasping what the person can do and what the support system can provide. A home visit can uncover illicit drug or alcohol abuse, environmental contributors to frequent falls, incontinence, and early signs of dementia or caregiver burnout, all of which may go unnoticed during an office visit. (1)

Home visits allow physicians to evaluate at home health maintenance procedures such as wound and respiratory care practices and provide feedback as well as more qualitative measures such as the home dynamic, particularly interactions between caregivers and patients. The ability to assess these types of factors may directly lead to reductions in hospitalizations and mortality in part because "these programs identify new or worsening medical problems or social conditions that could lead to patient decline or death" (1).

Importantly, not only have home visits been found effective in assessing home environments, they have been shown to be *significantly more effective* than that same assessment done in a clinic setting. In one study trained geriatric nurse specialists did a standardized assessment covering demographics, caregiver information, impairments in daily life, support, home environment and medical problems as well as a battery of cognitive and functional testing in both clinic and home environments (28). They found that when the same assessment was completed in the clinic as in the home only ~2% of patients had complete agreement between the evaluations and a much higher portion (94%) identified at least one problem only through the home visit vs only through the clinic visit (4%). Furthermore, a high proportion of problems identified only through the home visit were serious problems, and the clinic-based assessment often underrated the severity of problems it did identify. Overall, the authors found that "a structured, comprehensive clinic-based home assessment…was neither comparable to a home visit nor adequate in detecting serious problems".

Deciding Whom to Care for in the Home

Evaluating which patient populations benefit most from home-based care is another area requiring further research. There is moderate evidence to suggest that frail or sicker patients are more likely to benefit from home-based care, but the current evidence is not fully sufficient (14). One review suggested while home-based care may provide benefit to a wide variety of patients, patients who are less ill may show smaller or no cost savings from such a program. They suggested that further research comparing patient

characteristics such as location and housing might be fruitful (14). Recent studies looking at cost savings have tended to focus on Medicare costs, specifically targeting frail and/or homebound, elderly patients, most recently through the *Independence at Home* demonstration project (19, 20, 29, 30). Research on preventive, multi-dimensional interventions have suggested that low-risk elderly individuals might benefit in the long run, but may have higher up front costs (31). More research is required to understand the cost effectiveness of such interventions. In contrast, existing research suggests that higher risk elderly individuals are likely to benefit from interventions targeting specific, known problems (31).

Graduate Medical Education and Home-Based Care

Home-based care is largely absent from internal medicine (IM) graduate medical education. A 2001 review of internal medicine residency programs found that only 25% had mandatory training and a third offer no instruction at all (32). Further, a needs assessment of internal medicine residents found that there is demand for such experiences and that IM residents do not feel prepared to deliver home-based care despite a desire to do so (5). When offered, home-based care experiences in training are well received by both patients and participants (33-36), but program evaluations tend to be small, reliant on anecdotal data, and many focus on resident satisfaction and attitudes, rather than changes in practice or understanding of patient experience (15, 34, 37). Program evaluations that focus on learner impact have found improvements in knowledge; learner understanding of patients' home and community issues, and social determinants of health; and have "permitted them to provide better care" (15, 33, 37, 38). Additionally, interdisciplinary teams have allowed residents to learn how to better leverage other

members of a team such as social workers, to "use systems to promote communication across specialties", and to access community resources (37). Importantly, at least one study of pediatric residents found that the program effects were sustained at 14-22 months post intervention (33). However, most studies evaluated impact only immediately following the intervention or at most at a one year follow-up. Of note, home-based care effectively allows residents to develop skills in each of the key competencies as defined by ACGME, making it not only a potentially important part of the learning process, but also an efficient one (39).

Home-based care has been integrated into residency training in a wide variety of ways- ranging from an ongoing longitudinal program to focused care transition education to one-time visits during intern year, and all have found at least anecdotal evidence of positive impact on their residents (34, 40, 41). However, despite many programs implementing such initiatives, there is limited robust, long-term, non-anecdotal evidence to support incorporation into IM residency curricula, which is important given the significant time and funding required (9, 42-44). In our literature search, we have found only three studies characterizing long-term (>1 year) clinically meaningful changes in IM resident understanding of patient context (34, 45, 46) and two were based on selfreported retrospective surveys. A couple others recently have reported on the impact over the course of intern year (38, 47). No studies were identified that followed-up initially identified changes in IM residents more than a year past the end of a home-based care program. Particularly, the impact of one-time primary care visits with non-homebound patients is not well described (22). This is important as one-time visits can be implemented with less initial time and funding investment up front than ongoing homebased primary care programs. One IM residency program recently implemented

nonmedical one-time home visits for all first-year residents (38). An analysis of written reflections following the visit and again at the end of the year suggested that the visits impacted the depth of the patient relationship, were a source of professional fulfillment and would likely impact future practice.

Evaluation of Training in Home-Based Care: Lacking the Patient Perspective

There is a notable absence of patient perspective within the research on homebased care in residency training. While home-based care has been shown to increase quality of life for patients and caregivers (10), reduce hospitalizations and emergency room visits (10, 13, 48) and allow for identification of previously missed diagnoses (1), evaluations of programs as part of graduate medical education primarily focus on the resident experience. A review of the literature found one study which assessed patient satisfaction (35), but none that more deeply explored the patient experience. In particular, there has been a noted lack of research into the association between educational and patient outcomes and there has been a call for research in this area (49). As one author writes: "In particular, more explicit determination of the association between educational outcomes and patient outcomes remains an important challenge". There is significant room for exploration of these issues, particularly "[articles that] link educational interventions to patient outcomes can better inform educational practice" (49). Even the assertion of an improved physician-patient relationship after home visits, while widely accepted, relies on largely anecdotal evidence. The development of interventions that have the potential to augment patient-resident relationships is particularly important given the high rates of resident provider turnover and challenges to maintaining continuity with patients in graduate medical education (50-52). Demonstrating that

integrating home-based care into graduate medical education is not only important for the residents, but also could have significant positive impact on their patients, could provide the impetus for more programs to incorporate home-based care into their training.

Burnout and Graduate Medical Education

Burnout is an ongoing, historically underrecognized problem in graduate medical education. Estimates of prevalence are wide ranging- anywhere from 18% to as high as 82% (53). One review in 2007 found that less than 1% of burnout literature focuses on medical residents (53). While this has been a growing area of focus over the last decade, it still remains an area requiring significant attention. Burnout has been associated with depression and suboptimal patient care (54, 55). Successful interventions addressing burnout have focused on control, defined as influence over work environment, clinical meaning, defined as "satisfaction with clinical & human aspects of patient care" and selfawareness, defined as the "ability to pay attention on purpose, in the present moment and non-judgmentally" (56, 57). Additionally, more recent research has found that certain coping strategies are potentially protective against burnout in medical residents. These include active coping i.e., trying to do something to address problems when they arise, and acceptance i.e., being able to accept a situation and live with it (58). As a result of the high rates of burnout, there has been a recent call for action regarding wellbeing in graduate medical education and strategies for mitigating burnout are under investigation (59).

Home visits offer a possible opportunity for mitigating burnout among residents. Physicians who conduct home visits report higher levels of practice satisfaction (6) and opportunities to develop more satisfying relationships with patients (7-9), both of which are components of 'meaningful work', which is suggested as a mitigator for burnout (56, 60). Additionally, an association has been suggested between patient-centered orientation among physicians, such as increased empathy and attention to a patient's psychosocial context, and improved wellbeing (57, 61). This suggests that if home visits improve patient-centered orientation, they could also contribute towards improved resident wellbeing. Bringing this together points to home visits as a possible mechanism through which to address burnout in residency- or at least to build characteristics in residents, which might mitigate burnout. Improving practice satisfaction, building more satisfying relationships and all together improving resident feeling of 'meaningful work' could be powerful strategies by which to contribute to improved resident wellbeing, and thereby might be another important motivator for incorporation of home visits into IM residency curricula.

Conclusion and Next Steps

While outcomes from home-based care integrated into residency education are overwhelmingly positive, the evidence is still not strong. Much of it is anecdotal, and when there are formal evaluations they often focus on resident experience and satisfaction, and tend to be focused on longitudinal home-based care or transitional care experiences. There is likewise little research into the long-term impact on residents and how these programs impact future patient encounters. In addition, programs vary significantly in design. There is wide variation in length of home-based care involvement, patient contact hours, and which patients are targeted for home visits (e.g., high utilization vs homebound vs all) (37). Exploring these aspects of effective program

design could provide important information to residency programs looking to incorporate aspects into their own educational experience.

Additionally, the patient perspective from these programs is glaringly absent. Given the established positive effects of longitudinal home-based primary care, and more mixed outcomes from integrated/mixed programs, understanding the way that patients experience such a program is an important consideration. Successfully linking graduate medical education outcomes with patient outcomes, or at least improved patient experience could be a valuable argument for implementation of such programs, and a response to the call for such interventions (49).

The Yale Primary Care Internal Medicine residency program (YPC) home visit program started in 2012 as a series of day-long ambulatory education sessions focused on the hospital-to-home transition. Teams of 2-3 residents +/- an attending physician conducted home visits on recently discharged patients. The focus was on medication reconciliation and identifying action items to prevent readmission. Initial informal patient evaluations indicated that the visits were universally well received with key themes including increased patient comfort, doctors demonstrating care and concern, and increased time and availability of the physician during the visit (62). Additionally, there were unprompted requests by patients to repeat the visits. Growing out of this experience, a resident needs assessment indicated a desire to receive more training in home visits and that residents felt that patients on their panels would benefit from home visit opportunities. The needs assessment also revealed residents' desire for an interdisciplinary team to be engaged in the visits - particularly to include a visiting nurse, pharmacist, and/or social worker. Thus, a two-week elective was added in 2013 and subsequently grew in popularity, enrolling 2-6 residents per year (62).

Starting in the 2015-16 academic year, YPC incorporated required home visits for all PGY-1 and PGY-2 residents in addition to the optional two-week elective. Each resident engages in at least 4 half-day home visits during their training: PGY-1s are supporting team members (with a PGY-2, pharmacist, and faculty supervisor); PGY-2s lead the team, selecting patients to visit from their continuity clinic panels. In accordance with Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) guidelines for physician home visits, the patients are required to have a specific issue that must be addressed in the home (63). Aside from this direction, PGY-2s are free to choose whichever patient from their panel they desire. These visits aim to build unique clinical skillsets and enhance education about the role of psychosocial determinants of health. This research project sought to evaluate the feasibility of integrating one-time primary care home visits into an IM residency curriculum, as well as exploring the impact for residents on educational goals and wellbeing, and the impact on patient clinical care experience.

Purpose

This project had several objectives. The primary objective was to explore the impact of one-time primary care home visits as an educational intervention for resident trainees and as a clinical experience for patients. In order to achieve these objectives, this project sought to describe the experiences of both sets of stakeholders and to shed light on how their experiences might intersect and inform one another as synergistic educational and clinical interventions. Additionally, as part of understanding the resident perspective, this project provides insight into the patient population that residents selected for home visits, when given relative flexibility to choose any patient who they feel would benefit.

Methods

Setting and Participants

The Yale Primary Care Internal Medicine Residency Program is a three-year program which trains 18 residents per year in a large university-based hospital system. Residents who were eligible to participate in the study were those who had their continuity clinic in a hospital-based primary care center (the Yale New Haven Health Saint Raphael's Campus Adult Primary Care Center [SRC-APC]), which sees >15,000 visits per year and provides care for the medically underserved community members of New Haven.

Program Description

The YPC Home Visit program is embedded within a three-year Community Engagement Curriculum (64), with additional components that focus on physician advocacy skills and community engagement through a cultural humility lens. As part of the YPC Home Visit program, each YPC resident who has their continuity clinic at the SRC-APC engages in at least 4 home visits during their training, functioning as a supporting team member in the PGY-1 year, and as team leader in the PGY-2 year. The program goals include the development of increased understanding of the impact of psychosocial determinants of health, and skills for providing home-based care.

A YPC attending joins the team to supervise the visit; in addition to the director of the Home Visit program [TLR], other faculty who rotate through this role include YPC Chief Residents and YPC core faculty who have experience and specific interest in home-based care. A pharmacist rounds out the team, helping to evaluate the patient's medication list in advance and assisting with medication reconciliation and education during the visit. In addition, pharmacy and/or medical students who are rotating at the SRC-APC may also join the team and if the patient has a visiting nurse, they are invited to join the team in the home as well.

As team leader, the PGY-2 is responsible for selecting a patient from their continuity panel. In accordance with CMS guidelines for physician home visits, the patients are required to have a specific issue that must be addressed in the home (63), but PGY-2s are otherwise given no objective selection criteria. Before each visit, PGY-2s call the patient to ask if the team can visit them at home and to share with the patient why they think the visit will be beneficial.

Prior to the visit, all trainees are provided with background reading on home visits, as well as a standard home visit template. On an alternating schedule, sessions include either pre-visit didactics on the logistics of delivering home-based care, or group reflection on past visits. All sessions include pre-visit team planning. Safety issues are also discussed: home visits are always done in groups and the team reserves the ability to stop the visit at any point if anyone is uncomfortable. After the visit, the faculty member conducts a team debriefing and the PGY-2 is responsible for documenting the visit in the medical record. Since the faculty member is present during the visit and patients are chosen in accordance with CMS guidelines, these are billable encounters; if the team is joined by a visiting nurse, however, the program does not bill for those sessions in order to encourage collaboration, as a visiting nurse and a physician are not able to bill for a home visit on the same day. From a faculty effort perspective, these sessions are counted toward the required number of clinic sessions.

This study was determined to be exempt by the IRB at Yale University (protocol # 1606017981).

Qualitative Design

A qualitative design was used to allow for a broader and richer understanding of the patient and resident experience and to identify areas for future quantitative analysis of impact. Semi-structured interviews were used to elucidate and describe the resident and patient care experiences. This was supplemented with a chart review process that focused on socio-demographics, healthcare utilization, and co-morbidities and was used to characterize the patient population. A secondary quantitative analysis was also done comparing patients who received home visits to a control population from clinic in order to better understand which types of patients residents choose for home visits.

Instruments

After a thorough review of the existing literature, informational interviews were conducted with stakeholders to inform interview guide development. These included leadership from the YNHH Patient Experience Council, a member of the YNHH Patient and Family Advisory Council and Yale Primary Care residency program leadership. Input from these stakeholders was then used to craft interview guides to direct semistructured interviews (Table 1). Interview guide development was an iterative process and continued to be shaped throughout the project and informed by early interviews.

A chart review was also done and sociodemographic and healthcare utilization data was abstracted by [AR]. Sociodemographic data included gender, race, age bracket, ethnicity (Hispanic vs non-hispanic), preferred language, insurance type, and family information (marital status, children). Healthcare utilization data included the number of primary care visits, hospitalizations, ED visits, phone calls/emails/letters, and other medical encounters in the year prior to the home or office visit (depending on the group).

Patient interview guide topics	Provider interview guide topics
1. Logistics of the home visit	1. Logistics of selecting patients
2. Feelings during the home visit	2. Logistics of home visit
3. Comparison of home visit and	3. Impact on patient-provider
prior office visit	relationship
4. Impact on patient-provider	4. Home visits as a part of residency
relationship	training
	5. Impact on feelings of burnout

Table 1: Overview of topics included in interview guides

The Charlson Co-Morbidity Index was used to evaluate charts for patient comorbidity status. Co-morbidity was evaluated using both the original index (65) and an adapted index developed in 2008 to predict costs of chronic disease in primary care patients (66). The original index includes a wide range of conditions including cardiac, renal, neurological and neoplastic, among others, and uses a weighted scoring to assign a comorbidity score. This score was originally developed to predict risk of patient death (65). The index has been used widely, including in a recent study evaluating patient outcomes in a Medicare home visit program (27) and was chosen for the current study to provide a known comparison point for prior or future research. The adapted index adds depression, hypertension, skin ulcers/cellulitis, and use of warfarin to the original index in order to predict total annual healthcare costs for patients of differing co-morbidity levels.

Collection

Semi-structured interviews were conducted by [AR] with YPC residents who had participated in home visits during AY2014-16 (n=9/35, 26% completion) and with the visited patients (n=10/21, 48% completion). Residents were recruited via email (two emails were sent to graduating residents and four emails were sent to current residents) and interviewed from July-Sept 2016 by [AR]. Interviews were 30-60 minutes in length and occurred in person in a location and at a time of the resident's choosing to maximize their comfort level and confidentiality. Eligible patients were sent an introductory letter about the study and received a follow up recruitment call. They were then interviewed from Aug-Oct 2016 by [AR]. Interviews were 20-45 minutes in length and occurred over the phone at a time of the patient's choosing. A phone interpreter was used for patients who did not speak English as a first language. For two patients who were unable to complete an interview, interviews were conducted with first-degree family members who were present at the time of the home visit.

Additionally, during interviews with residents one hypothesis that emerged was that they often chose patients who were medically complex or for whom there was a piece of their health status that the resident didn't fully understand such as multiple readmissions or uncontrolled chronic illness. We quantitatively tested this hypothesis about which patients were chosen for home visits by comparing characteristics of the home visit patients and a control population. Each home visit patient was assigned five randomly chosen control patients who had been seen in clinic by the same resident on the 10 clinic days preceding the home visit. Patient and control charts were reviewed retrospectively by [AR] for socio-demographics, healthcare utilization, and comorbidities, utilizing the Charlson Co-morbidity Index (CCI) (66, 67).

Analysis

We used a grounded theory approach for qualitative analysis. Interviews were recorded digitally and transcribed by an investigator [AR] and anonymized. For each group of interviews (patients and residents), two investigators independently coded all interviews [AR, TLR]. For each group, initial interviews were used to develop coding frameworks (one each for patients and residents), utilizing an inductive, iterative process. Investigators met regularly to address discrepancies and achieve consensus in the framework. For each group (patients and residents) once thematic saturation was reached, the respective coding framework was applied to all interviews by an investigator [AR]. The coding frameworks were then used to construct a unified concept map of the emerging themes and connections observed between the themes.

Chart review data comparing home visit patients with controls was analyzed using descriptive statistics, chi-squared significance testing, and linear regression analysis.

Results

Home Visit Patient Demographics and Comparison with Controls

Twenty-one home visit patient charts, each with five controls, were reviewed for analysis, for a total of 121 charts (two patient charts were from family members during a joint visit and were treated as one for the purpose of controls). Complete descriptive statistics are shown in Table 2. Compared to controls, patients chosen for home visits were older (mode 70-79 vs 45-54, p=0.01), but otherwise had no significant demographic differences (gender, racial or ethnic make-up, and private vs public insurance status). Note that 'public insurance' category includes both Medicare and Medicaid to avoid

confounding with age differences between the two groups. There was similarly no significant difference in healthcare utilization between groups (ED visits, PCP visits, hospitalizations), although patients chosen for home visits trended towards higher utilization in all categories except ED visits (Total HC utilization 17.52 \pm 11.05 vs 13.42 \pm 13.67, p=0.15) (Figure 2). Most importantly, home visits patients had higher comorbidity (CCI) scores both on the original index (2.86 \pm 1.77 vs 1.33 \pm 1.50, p=0.001) and the adapted index (4.14 \pm 1.88 vs 2.31 \pm 1.84, p<0.001) (Figure 2). Interestingly, fitting a regression model to the data suggested that dementia and cerebrovascular disease rates were significantly higher among patients chosen for home visits and were potential drivers of the overall difference in co-morbidity levels.

		Ho N-	me visit -21 (%)	C N-	ontrol 100 (%)	P-Value
Gender	M	10	(48%)	43	(43%)	0.70
	F	11	(52%)	57	(57%)	
	15-35	1	(5%)	13	(13%)	
Age	35-54	5	(24%)	46	(46%)	0.01*
	55-74	8	(38%)	35	(35%)	
	75+	7	(33%)	6	(6%)	
Pace	African American	13	(62%)	57	(58%)	0.02
Nace	White	5	(24%)	20	(20%)	0.92
	Other	3	(14%)	22	(22%)	
Insurance	Public	17	(81%)	72	(72%)	0.40
	Private/other	4	(19%)	28	(28%)	

$T 11 \Delta D \cdot C$		r	1	C 1	•••	1	• 1	4 1
I anie 7. Descriptive	STATISTICS OF	natiente	chosen	tor home	\rightarrow V101TC 0	and ac	signed	controle
1 abic 2. Descriptive	statistics of	patients	CHOSCH	IOI HOIII	- 10110 6	inu as	Signed	controls
1		1					0	



Figure 2: Healthcare utilization and co-morbidity scores of patients chosen by residents for home visits compared to controls

Qualitative Results

As is described above, analysis using a grounded theory approach was used to identify themes and sub-themes from resident and patient interviews (Table 3). Analysis of resident interviews identified three key themes: educational impact, individual patient impact, and burnout impact. Each of these high level themes were made up of several sub-themes which are outlined below. Representational quotes of each sub-theme are shown in Table 4. Analysis of patient interviews similarly identified three key themes: provider relationship impact, communication impact, and resource connections. These were similarly made up of several sub-themes, each outlined below with representational quotes found in Table 5. These themes were then used to construct a unifying concept map, which illustrates primary outcomes of the patient and resident experiences of home visits and mediators of those outcomes. The concept map is shown and described below.

	Theme	Subtheme
	Educational impact	Informing future encounters with other patients
		Exposure to models of care
State Patient impact	Appropriate patients for home visits	
	Improving patient-provider relationships	
Resid		Informing patient advocacy needs
	Sense of meaning in work	
	Burnout impact	Balance of overwhelming and reinvigorating
		Being in the community
		More personal relationships
	Provider relationship impact	Show physician home life
	Trovider relationship impact	Reflection of care for patient
ts		Higher potential for future disappointment
atien	Communication impact	Relaxed atmosphere
Ŀ	Communication impact	More time
		Physician as advocate for patient
	Resource connections Benefit of multidisciplinary to	Benefit of multidisciplinary team
		Concern that can't do things at the home

Table 3: Themes and sub-themes identified from interviews

Residents

1) Educational impact:

Informing future encounters with other patients: Many residents noted how the things they learned during the home visit would impact their approach to office visits with other patients in their future practice. One resident participant noted: "You're just more aware and open to discussing issues such as access to medicines and nutrition and home environment because you have seen it for yourself" [R-02]. Most often residents

brought up questions that they plan to ask in future interactions after having seen the importance in the patients' homes, such as "[not only] who lives at the home, but also who spends a significant amount of time at the home...there's actually a lot of people in the home that may or may not impact their health" [R-04]. Regarding medication management they brought up, "who helps patients manage their meds, and if it's them how do they organize that" [R-04] or "I'm going to change this med- what are you going to do with the old set of meds that you have at home?" [R-04]. One resident highlighted that it influenced agenda prioritization during short visits, noting: "In a busy clinic visit you have 20 minutes for a patient who really needs an hour you're going to sacrifice the things you don't think are as important....but once you see these issues impact the patient's shortness of breath has much as making the diagnosis of COPD or pneumonia you give more time to those issues" [R-02].

Exposure to models of care: Exposure to home visits as a model of care and a multidisciplinary approach were mentioned as valuable experiences. Residents noted that going on home visits made them "more open to the approach- it's fine to go visit patients in their home" [R-01] and that, "just having exposure to patient care in more settings- I think [sic] just makes our training a little bit more well rounded" [R-05]. Several residents also noted that this model of care really resonated with them and "allowed me [sic] to see that there was a way to deliver the kind of primary care that I believed in" [R-03]. However, of note, one resident had a misperception that they couldn't bill for a home visit like a regular clinic visit. The multidisciplinary exposure was most appreciated as a means to better understand the roles of other providers noting that "it's [e.g., visiting nurses] something we're usually prescribing to patients, so it's good to see the outcome"

[R-02] and that "by seeing what other peoples' roles are, we get a better understanding of what our own roles should be" [R-03].

2) Individual patient impact:

Which patients were most appropriate for home visits: When asked about the reasons why specific patients were selected for home visits, concern about how the patient was managing at home was frequently mentioned, as was a desire to better understand factors responsible for patient's health and/or see how things were done at home. For example the residents pointed to times when "you got the feeling that there was something more. So I thought doing a home visit...would really give us a lot more insight" [R-02]. Particularly, residents mentioned patients who were frequently readmitted to the hospital or repeatedly presented to the ED and they wanted to better understand why. In other cases, the residents were never able to see the patient in clinic because they were in the hospital so frequently: "I would always get discharge summaries from outside hospitals that he was hospitalized again...and so I felt very helpless in terms of being his primary care doctor" [R-01]. Residents also mentioned more logistical reasons for doing home visits on a particular patient, such as not having enough time in clinic to address their issues due to medical or social complexity, or patients having difficulty getting to appointments.

Improving patient-provider relationships: Residents frequently discussed how the visit enabled them to better understand difficulties that their patients faced (e.g., "able to discover that he's illiterate" [R-03]) and "to have a better context as to who they are as a person and their surrounding community" [R-06]. This in turn allowed them to "make more achievable realistic goals for him [sic] to act on in his home environment" [R-01]

and "tailor my [sic] health advice to something they're actually able to achieve" [R-03]. Similarly increased trust, better rapport, and overall dynamic changes after the visit were mentioned by numerous residents- particularly a move towards more honest or frank discussions at future office visits. For example, one resident noted that after a home visit during future office visits, the overall approach was "much more I know what actually is happening- you know what is actually happening- let's talk about that and see where we can go from there" [R-02]. Residents also mentioned feeling a closer connection, that it "felt like more like she [sic] belonged to me as a patient…even though we really just chatted for half an hour and didn't really do much medical stuff during the home visit" [R-05].

Informing patient advocacy needs: Several residents noted that the information learned during home visits allowed them to be better advocates for their patients. This was primarily mentioned in the context of improving access to services or creating more tailored care plans, for example to provide "concrete recommendations on medication management" [R-01] or "make recommendations on additional stalls, grip handles...to minimize his [sic] risk of falls" [R-01]. However, for two residents the visit gave them specific ammunition to advocate on behalf of patients. For one this was by feeling "more justified in writing a letter to the city saying that she needed handicapped housing" [R-02]. Another resident was able to better understand a patient's illiteracy and how this has impacted his access to care: "I was able to advocate for him as his doctor to the point where I had surgeons consent to do operations…when before they had refused because they were like there's no way he can follow through…" [R-03]. Overall the resident sentiment was: "You get a better sense of what situation they're living in and that also helps you understand what challenges they might be dealing with or what are the great things about what's in their life" [R-09].

3) Burnout impact:

<u>Sense of meaning in work:</u> Several residents spoke about how going on the home visits reminded them why they went into medicine in the first place and "rejuvenat[ed] [their] belief in primary care" [R-03]. They spoke of how during residency there are "so many stressful things that are keeping you from being able to focus on....help[ing] the individual in front of you" and that home visits allow time to spend dedicated time with patients and "reminds you why you did this" [R-02].

Balance of overwhelming and reinvigorating: Residents commonly spoke about how the visits brought up both feelings of being overwhelmed by all the challenges their patients face (that the residents may not be able to impact), as well as being reinvigorated by learning more about their patients as people, and feeling empowered by the ability they now have to advocate for them. One resident described this balance as: "Even though it was physically draining it was spiritually rejuvenating" [R-03]. However, it was also noted that the sense of being overwhelmed or drained wasn't lasting and didn't outweigh the positives: "It's certainly not a feeling that you're like 'oh I don't want to do this anymore'…because then they come into the office and you just have a different relationship" [R-02].

<u>Being in the community</u>: Several residents mentioned the benefit of just "go[ing] out of the hospital and see[ing] the community so much [sic] of our patients live in" [R-06] and that "just driving through the community or walking through the community to go to a patient's home...reminds us that we're not practicing in these tiny silos, we're practicing within a community still" [R-09].

Theme	Subtheme	Representative quote
ational impact	Informing future encounters with other patients	You're just more aware and open to discussing issues such as access to medicines and nutrition and home environment In a busy clinic visit you have 20 minutes for a patient who really needs an hour you're going to sacrifice the things you don't think are as important. So if they come with shortness of breath you're really going to focus on that andyou may forget to ask, 'Do you even have this inhaler I'm asking if you're using? Do you even know how to use it? How much does it cost for you to get this inhaler?' But once you see [them] impact the patient's shortness of breath as much making the diagnosis of COPD or pneumonia you give more time to [them]. [R-02]
Educi	Exposure to models of care	"Just having exposure to patient care in more settings- I think just makes our training a little bit more well rounded" [R-05] "[It] allowed me to see that there was a way to deliver the kind of primary care that I believed in"[R-05] "By seeing what other peoples' roles are, we get a better understanding of what our own roles should be"[R-03]
ct	Appropriate patients for home visits	This is a gentleman who is very engaged and very invested and is not succeeding His A1C was out of control You got the feeling that there was something more. So I thought doing a home visit where we could have more time, I could see how he injects his insulin, how he does a finger stick, would really give us a lot more insight, and it did, so that was helpful. [R-02]
Patient impa	Improving patient- provider relationships	"I've seen her twice in the office since then and it's changed our conversations- so they're much more frank. They're much more I know what is actually happening- you know what is actually happening- let's talk about that and see where we can go from there."[R-02] "I think it definitely felt that she felt like more like she belonged to me as a patienteven though we really just chatted for half an hour and didn't really do much medical stuff during the home visit."[R-05]

	Informing patient advocacy needs	"It was after that visit I felt much more justified in writing a letter to the city saying that she needed handicapped housing" [R-02] "I would say 'Did you know that he's actually illiterate and he has no transportation and so when he doesn't do what you say or when he doesn't show up to his appointment it's not because he's choosing to do that or wanting to defy you, it's because he cannot follow through on the instructions that you gave him so we have to work within his limitations'I was able to advocate for him as his doctor to the point where I had surgeons consent to do operationswhen before they had refused because they were like there's no way he can follow through" [R-03]
act	Sense of meaning in work	Most people that are going into medicine they start out at least before they're burned outyou want to help the individual in front of youyou just have so many stressful things that are keeping you from being able to focus on that and when you get this opportunity to dedicate a morning to a patient- sit there on their couch, talk to them about things that are important to them, challenges they have- it reminds you why you did this. [R-02]
Burnout impa	Balance of overwhelming and reinvigorating	"Even though it was physically draining it was spiritually rejuvenating" [R-03] "It's certainly not a feeling that you're like 'oh I don't want to do this anymore'because then they come into the office and you just have a different relationship."[R-02]
	Being in the community	Just driving through the community or walking through the community to go to a patient's homereminds us that we're not practicing in these tiny silos, we're practicing within a community still. [R-09]

Table 4: Provider themes and representational quotes from interviews.

Patients

1) Provider relationship impact:

More personal relationships: Patients felt that having their doctor in their home allowed them to get to know one another better. One noted: "They know what things are like, how do you live like and it's like they become family" [P-02]. Importantly, this

translated to a better, more comfortable relationship at the clinic and a comfort in calling their provider if they had a problem.

<u>Show physician home life</u>: Patients spoke of how showing their physician their home made them feel like their PCP knows them better - both the things they are proud of and the obstacles they face. Specifically, they mentioned that they felt there were things they could "show him better than tell him [sic]" [P-05]. Additionally, they noted that they could speak more clearly about things at future office visits such as the food in their kitchen or accessibility issues in their homes.

<u>Reflection of care for patient:</u> Many patients mentioned feeling like their PCP visiting their home was a reflection of how much the PCP cares about them and feeling special that their doctor would take time to visit. They stated that it was "nice doctors came into your home. It showed they really cared about you" [P-06] and that it "showed a little concern for me [sic] as a person" [P-07].

<u>Higher potential for future disappointment:</u> For at least one patient, the stronger relationship built through the home visit also led to being disappointed when they weren't able to see the same resident in clinic at their next visit or in the hospital when they were admitted. The patient's daughter noted that she understood that seeing one of a group of providers is part of a resident clinic but still found it "kind of disappointing" [P-21].

2) Communication impact:

<u>Relaxed atmosphere</u>: A number of patients mentioned feeling more comfortable and relaxed at home, that "it didn't seem like a doctor's visit- it just seemed like company- friends- coming over and having a conversation" [P-21]. A couple noted that this translated to being able to "speak a little more freely and a little more openly" [P-07]. The daughter of one patient noted that "she [the patient] was talking to them about how she felt...just to see my mother open up like that it was different" [P-21].

<u>*Time:*</u> While there was some disagreement, overwhelmingly more patients felt that home visits allotted more time, which allowed them to discuss more things with their doctor and feel less hurried. Patients expressed that, "there's more time at the home visits...[at the clinic] my doctor says we only got this much more time so we got to hurry up" [P-17] versus "[at home] they'll be able to examine you from head to toe, not the same at the clinic because these kinds of things are harder because of the time" [P-14].

3) Resource connections:

<u>Physician as advocate for patient:</u> Numerous patients mentioned that after the home visit it seemed like it was easier to get connected with needed resources such as safety equipment or in-home services such as physical therapy or nursing. For one patient, she felt that being able to show her primary care provider the accessibility issues in her home and the effect of her environmental context on her health really made the difference in getting her into a new apartment.

<u>Benefit of multidisciplinary team</u>: Many patients were aware that the pharmacist checked their medications during the visit. One family member noted the specific benefit of having a pharmacist who could explain medication interactions and really appreciating having the pharmacist and PCP at the visit together, noting: "When they're not together something is always missing...so just to have them in the same place at the same time I got a better understanding of the medications" [P-21].

<u>Concern that can't do things at the home</u>: The main drawback noted by patients and caregivers was a concern that things can't be done at home such as blood work or a more thorough exam. One patient's family member expressed feeling that, "they didn't do nothing- they didn't examine her or anything. They checked her living environment and the pharmacist looked at the medication" [P-10]. *Of note, the potential for blood draws and immunization protocols have since been added to the YPC home visits.*

Theme	Subtheme	Representative quote
More relation	More personal relationships	"I felt like I got to know her better, I actually realized thatshe's the same person [in the office and at home]"[P- 02] "I would be more comfortable calling now if I have a problem" [P-10]
	Show physician home life	I was able to show him where I live and some of the things that I would go through as far as the stairs, and you know, the bathroom I was able to show him better than tell him. [P- 05]
Provider relatio	Reflection of care for patient	"I was very excited that he wanted to take the time out to come out- to come out and visit me" [P-05] "Instead of going to appointments- it was nice doctors came into your home. It showed that they really cared about you." [P-06]
	Higher potential for future disappointment	She gets comfortable with one person and then she has stuff going on and she has to see someone on the team and not Dr. X. So she's looking forward to seeing Dr. X but we get into the office and it's someone on the teamSo that's kind of disappointing[P-21]
Communicati on impact	Relaxed atmosphere	"Just to see my mother open up like that, it was different" [P- 21] "It didn't seem like a doctor's visit it just seemed like company- friends coming over and having a conversation" [P-21]

	More time	"There's more time at the home visits[at the clinic] my doctor says we only got this much more time so we got to hurry up." [P-17] "[at home] they'll be able to examine you from head to toe, not the same at the clinic because these kinds of things are harder because of the time." [P-14]
	Physician as advocate for patient	He was able to see for his self, that ok we have to, we really do have to do this letter and this is dangerous with you living on this second floor and you have to get out. [P-05]
Resource connections	Benefit of multidisciplinary team	"The pharmacist was able to explain exactly what this medication is going to do versus setting off another medicationshe can explain the reaction and stuff like that. That was a big help."[P-21] "Being able to talk to the doctor and the pharmacist at the same time was interesting because it always seems like when they're not together something is missing."[P-21]
	Concern that can't do things at the home	At the clinic they have the opportunity to do more things like blood work. [P-14]

Table 5: Patient themes and representational quotes from interviews.

Concept Map

The identified themes from both patient and resident interviews can be understood together through a key set of mediating factors (Figure 3) and can be visualized in a concept map (Figure 4). The patient and resident interviews together shed light on a handful of key mindset changes and development of characteristics for residents, which may mediate the relationship between home visits and identified program outcomes.

Residents spoke of how the home visits provided a more holistic view of their patients. This was shaped through an opportunity to form a more personal connection with patients, combined with working as part of an interdisciplinary team that provided a different perspective on the home environment such as a detailed medication reconciliation or a home safety evaluation. Likewise, the post-visit debrief is intended to reinforce and bring their observations back into the clinical context. Together these may have led residents to a more patient-centered outlook, both at that visit and moving forward, as well as an increased sense of ability and/or ammunition to advocate on behalf of their patients. Additionally, the program included protected time for home visits, which provided space for residents to find a sense of rejuvenation, leading to an increased feeling of meaning in work. For patients, the protected time for a visit with their primary care provider created opportunity to tell about their lives and form a deeper connection, which in turn created increased feelings of openness and comfort.



Figure 3: Deep dive into factors mediating relationship between home visits and identified themes

Figure 3 provides a visual depiction of how specific pieces of the home visit program, as described above, can lead to four key mediating components identified through the interview analysis: 1) increased patient centeredness among residents, 2) an increased perception among residents and patients of ability of resident to advocate on behalf of patients, 3) increased patient feelings of openness and comfort with their physician and 4) for residents an increased sense of meaning in their work. These factors in turn lead to the identified program end outcomes, which are depicted in Figure 4 through a concept map. For residents, these outcomes include an increase in characteristics that have been shown to be protective of burnout such as sense of meaning in work, and a clinically meaningful increase in environmental awareness. For patients, these include increased feeling of connectedness with their physicians and a perceived increase in resource connections.





Discussion

While home-based care is acknowledged to have many positive benefits for patients (1, 22) and residents (5, 15, 33, 41), it is noticeably missing in Internal Medicine graduate medical education training (32). Further, there is a notable lack of program evaluation that links patient and educational outcomes (49). Finally, the literature on home-based care tends to focus on long term and transitional models, while other mixed or integrated models are less well described (22), particularly for non-homebound

patients. This project adds to the literature by describing one model of incorporating onetime primary care visits into an IM residency program with a focus on patient and resident experience, and the intersection of patient and educational outcomes.

The Patient Experience

Despite the many established medical and QoL benefits of home-based care for patients, there is a paucity of literature exploring the patient experience (68). We found only two recent studies that went beyond measuring patient satisfaction and delved deeper into the patient perspective (68, 69). They found that not only is home-based care preferred over standard office-based care by patients, it is also felt to promote better care, and improves satisfaction and QoL for patients. Patients felt cared for and listened to in a way not experienced at the office and caregivers felt more informed about their loved ones' medical conditions and medications. However, both studies focused on homebound patients who receive all their care at home and did not include trainees in the care delivery. The themes identified in these studies similarly arose in our interviews, confirming these findings and extending them to one-time visits as well as to home-based care delivered by trainees.

Additionally, previous work has found that for patients and caregivers, a key characteristic of high-quality home-based care is access to coordinated interdisciplinary care (70). Our patient interviews similarly identified the value of interdisciplinary care, and that patients felt that after the visit they had greater connection to social services, suggesting that one-time home visits with residents can provide this aspect of high-quality home-based care.

One challenge identified in previous work is patients feeling imposed upon, or like they had to sacrifice their sense of privacy while receiving home-based care (68). One-time visits may be able to overcome this obstacle, as patients opt-in to having the visits. Longitudinal home-based primary care is often provided to homebound patients who would not be able to receive care in the office. This was reflected in an interview with the daughter of one patient when she said that while she would not want her doctor to come to her home, she thought it was good for her mother [P-10]. Future research could explore whether patients feel less imposed upon, or more able to maintain their privacy with one-time visits versus longitudinal/comprehensive home-based primary care.

The Resident Experience

A number of the themes that emerged from our analysis of resident interviews confirmed findings from previous evaluations of home-based care training in residency. These include improvements in knowledge, skills, and attitudes towards home-based care (34), improvements in understanding of their patients' communities and barriers to care and application of this understanding to their future practice of medicine (15, 33, 38). However, our work also builds on these findings in key ways. While residents in a primary care residency are often already primed to think about psychosocial determinants of health and their clinical importance, our findings are unique in highlighting how seeing an individual patient in context can impact prioritization during a busy visit or provide context for difficult interactions. This is a finding not previously reported and suggests that even one visit can have lasting impact on future patient interactions due to an improved, clinically-relevant understanding of patient environmental context. This work is also novel in suggesting that home visits may increase resident sense of meaning in their work, and thereby increase characteristics that have been suggested as mitgators for burnout (56, 60). Given the recent national focus on physician burnout and resident wellbeing, this suggests home visits as a potential tool to help residents maintain their sense of meaning in their work during training. Importantly, residents acknowledged that the visits can also create a temporary sense of helplessness in seeing their patients' environmental context and the obstacles they face. While this was outweighed by the feelings of rejuvenation, this emphasizes the important role of the post-visit debrief. Likewise, they felt overwhelmed by the amount of work identified to be done post-visit given competing obligations. This might be addressed by providing protected post-visit time to work together as a team to begin addressing the identified issues.

Linking Resident and Patient Outcomes

By evaluating both patient and resident experiences of home-based care, this work is in a unique position to evaluate how educational and patient outcomes may inform one another. Patient interview responses suggested that one-time home visits can be valuable jumping off points for more meaningful and effective clinic relationships. A number of patients noted how the home visit made them feel that their physician cares about them as a person and how it affected their relationship moving forward. As one of the known difficulties of resident clinics is the high rates of turnover and challenges maintaining continuity (50-52), this could serve as a means to build the resident-patient relationship. One program already successfully does this with non-medical visits for interns and found it helped to build trust and established a deeper relationship than they would have had otherwise (38). Of note, interns in the YPC program attend the visit but the patients are from the panel of the PGY-2. It might be interesting in future work to compare the impact on the provider-patient relationship when the home visit is done during intern year, when the relationship is just being formed, versus during later years, when the resident may already have an established relationship with the patient.

However, an important tradeoff to consider is that when residents form more meaningful relationships with patients there is also more potential to be disappointed when the patient sees another team member in clinic or when the resident transitions care at graduation. One caregiver specifically lamented that her mother had formed such a deep bond with the resident that it was very difficult when she had to see another provider [P-21]. While this in part points to a larger systemic issue with turnover in resident clinics, it also brings to light to a difficult tradeoff, and a potential area ripe for further research.

Understanding which patients might benefit the most from this type of intervention is another area important both for optimizing patient experience and as an educational goal for residents. In interviews residents identified patients who are medically complex as likely benefiting from visits, as there often is not sufficient time and/or information in the clinic to provide effective care. This was supported by the patient demographic statistics, which showed that residents tended to choose patients to visit who were older and had more co-morbidities. Interestingly, residents also mentioned that the feeling that something was missing in their understanding of the patient's health status was important to the selection process (e.g. to explain multiple readmissions). This was reflected in the utilization data that showed a trend towards more hospital admissions in the home visit group than the control group. An important limitation is that the chart review was only done on utilization within the home hospital system and these patients could have been admitted at another hospital during the examined time period.

Finally, our findings suggest that home-based care training can synergistically improve resident training in, and patient experience of patient advocacy. For residents this was reflected in feeling better prepared to advocate for patients, both for the individual patient they visited and more broadly through an enhanced understanding of psychosocial determinants of health. Correspondingly, patients reported feeling that they received more resource connections and their physician was better able to advocate for them after a home visit. In these ways, the patient and educational outcomes are intrinsically linked and are able to not only inform, but also amplify one another.

Limitations

There were several limitations to our study beyond those already mentioned. First of all, the study was done with a convenience sample and the sample size was fairly limited. The program evaluation only focused on the first two years of the program, during which time only a limited number of home visits had been conducted; of those home visits, we only spoke with a quarter of the residents and half of the patients involved. Additionally, as the interviews were done through voluntary recruitment, patients and providers with negative experiences may not have chosen to be involved in the evaluation. Further, as patients chose to opt-in to the experience we didn't speak with any patients who from the outset didn't want their physician visiting them in their home. However, we did speak with one family member who expressed that while she would not have wanted the visit, she was glad to have it for her mother.

Additionally, many of the providers had already graduated and were more difficult to recruit. Of the providers we did speak with, there was a mixture of those who had completed just the elective, those who had completed just the mandatory half-days, and those who had completed both. While this can provide more diversity of perspective, it also makes it more difficult to isolate which experiences and outcomes were as a result of exposure to just the half-day curricular component versus which may require a more immersive experience. Particularly, as some providers mentioned initially feeling overwhelmed, conceivably there could be a dose-dependent relationship whereby initially the experience can be overwhelming, but the more experiences a resident has, the more it is rejuvenating, and the less overwhelming it feels. We did not survey residents on their prior experiences with home visits to be able to control for this, however it is also likely that this effect would rely on visiting a patient known to the resident, who they feel ownership for as a patient, and they would most likely not have had this type of experience prior to residency.

As the program only began in 2015, our evaluation was only able to look at the initial impact of the program and cannot evaluate whether the effects will continue. Further, since the time that the study was conducted, two additional components have been added to the curriculum for PGY-1's and medical/pharmacy students: a) using publicly available sources to gather standard background information about the neighborhood where the patient lives, including economic and health indicators, to share with the team during pre-visit team planning (Figure 5); and b) writing a one-page reflection on the experience, paying specific attention to what was learned about social determinants of health, how this experience differed from a clinic visit, and what else they would want to know about home visits (Figure 6). Additionally, as noted above,

phlebotomy and immunization protocols were added in the 2017-18 academic year with the support of pharmacist colleagues, increasing the potential comprehensiveness of the visits. However, one benefit to doing this evaluation in the first two years of its development is that the residents who participated were not aware of this opportunity when choosing where to train. As such, there is no risk that the resident group was selfselected towards those who were more interested in home visits.

Finally, the research team consisted only of physicians. There was no patient or patient/family advocate representation, which could have added valuable perspective. While patient advocates were consulted in the research project design and interview guide creation, their involvement in conducting interviews and in coding and analyzing the data could have contributed a different and important interpretation of the patient data. We also did not complete participant confirmation of our results, which could have increased the credibility.

Ра	tient's Address:
1.	What neighborhood does the patient live in?
2.	Using the Data Haven 2016 Neighborhood Profile, what is: http://www.cdatahaven.org/data-resources/new-haven-neighborhood-profiles [dick New Haven 2016 extended profile, pdf]
	the percentage of the community that lives in poverty?
	the housing cost burden for renters?
	the employment rate of the neighborhood?
	the neighborhood ethnic and racial breakdown?
3.	
	a) What is the bus route (and cost) to come to SKC-APC (1450 Chapel Street) from their nome:
	(use www.ctransit.com):
4.	What is the closest grocery store and pharmacy?
5.	What is the top news story in the neighborhood?

Figure 5: Neighborhood information worksheet completed by PGY-1s and medical/pharmacy students prior to each home visit



Figure 6: Reflection exercise completed by PGY-1s and medical/pharmacy students after home visits

Next Steps

Next steps could include quantitative evaluation of the qualitative conclusions found in this project. Evaluating wellness and burnout with trusted and commonly used indices such as the Maslach Burnout Inventory or the Professional Quality of Life Scale could contribute to the literature in a way that is directly comparable to other interventions with similar goals. Likewise, evaluating the educational outcomes in a way that is comparable to other interventions, which may be less time consuming or expensive, may be important in evaluating the cost efficiency of the program. It may also be interesting to consider whether, as mentioned above, there may be a dose-dependent type relationship whereby going on more home visits, resulting in increased resident exposure, may reduce feelings of being overwhelmed.

For patients, considering how their views of and interactions with the healthcare system are impacted by home visits may contribute to the literature on patient experience. Specifically, comparing the impact on the individual patient-physician relationship and trust within that relationship, to the patient's broader view of and trust in the healthcare system may be interesting. Additionally, looking at changes in utilization or cost may be helpful in providing a financial case for investing in home-based care in residency training.

Looking at the longitudinal outcomes and impact of the program is another possible area for future work. Qualitative evaluations of resident and patient reflections a year or more after the visit could provide useful points of comparison, whereas a more quantitative evaluation could elucidate whether there are any objective, long lasting effects from the visits. As noted earlier, no re-evaluations were found of similar programs more than a year out from the experience.

Conclusion

In conclusion, as time investment and funding are often obstacles to program implementation, this work implies that even infrequent home visit opportunities can be a worthwhile addition to residency training. For residents, they can have educational effects that last well beyond the time of the visit and reach much deeper than the individual patient relationship. Resident wellness and patient relationship continuity are frequent areas of focus in residency program development and home visits have the potential to contribute on both fronts. For wellness, this would be via increasing feelings of meaning in work, and for relationship continuity, by providing a protected time to develop and strengthen the patient relationship.

For both residents and patients, home visits can lead to more effective and efficient office visits moving forward, and a deeper and more direct relationship. Inoffice conversations after the home visit often start from a place of mutual understanding and can draw on a shared experience. Further, both felt that the visits augmented residents' ability to advocate on behalf of their patients. For patients the visits were a way for them to show their doctor another piece of their life, and made them feel cared for in a way that stayed with them even months later. Sample size and potential selection bias were the primary limitations to the study.

As a whole, this work suggests significant potential for educational benefit from home visits as part of IM graduate medical education, use as a strategy to increase sense of meaning in work and thereby potentially contribute to resident wellness, and impact on patient care experience from even a one-time visit. Further studies may assess the longterm impact on resident clinical practice and wellness, and could consider evaluating how home visits impact patient interactions with the healthcare system.

References:

- 1. Kao H, Conant R, Soriano T, and McCormick W. The Past, Present, and Future of House Calls. *Clinics in Geriatric Medicine*. 2009;25(1):19-34.
- 2. Center for Medcare and Medicaid Services. *Direct Dataset: Medicare National HCPCS Aggregate CY2016*. 2016.
- 3. Yao N, Ritchie C, Cornwell T, and Leff B. Use of Home-Based Medical Care and Disparities. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 2018;66(9):1716-20.
- 4. Peterson LE, Landers SH, and Bazemore A. Trends in Physician House Calls to Medicare Beneficiaries. *The Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine*. 2012;25(6):862.
- 5. Hayashi JL, Phillips KA, Arbaje A, Sridharan A, Gajadhar R, and Sisson SD. A Curriculum to Teach Internal Medicine Residents to Perform House Calls for Older Adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 2007;55(8):1287-94.
- 6. Adelman AM, Fredman L Fau Knight AL, and Knight AL. House call practices: a comparison by specialty. 0094-3509 (Print)).
- 7. Unwin BK, and Tatum III PE. House calls. *American family physician*. 2011;83(8).
- 8. Boillat M, Boulet S, and Poulin de Courval L. Teaching home care to family medicine residents. *Canadian Family Physician*. 1996;42(281-6.
- 9. Shumskiy I, Raju RM, and Tschudy MM. Home Visits: Advancing Pediatric Training by Preserving Past Traditions. *Pediatrics*. 2016.
- 10. Stall N, Nowaczynski M, and Sinha SK. Systematic Review of Outcomes from Home-Based Primary Care Programs for Homebound Older Adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 2014;62(12):2243-51.
- 11. Hughes SL, Weaver FM, Giobbie-Hurder A, and et al. Effectiveness of teammanaged home-based primary care: A randomized multicenter trial. *JAMA*. 2000;284(22):2877-85.
- 12. Mahon GM. Home Care, Need for Increased Physician Involvement in the 21st Century. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*.15(8):538-40.
- 13. Wajnberg A, Wang KH, Aniff M, and Kunins HV. Hospitalizations and Skilled Nursing Facility Admissions Before and After the Implementation of a Home-Based Primary Care Program. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 2010;58(6):1144-7.
- 14. Totten AM, White-Chu EF, Wasson N, Morgan E, Kansagara D, Davis-O'Reilly C, and Goodlin S. Home-based primary care interventions. 2016.
- 15. Smith KL, Ornstein K, Soriano T, Muller D, and Boal J. A Multidisciplinary Program for Delivering Primary Care to the Underserved Urban Homebound: Looking Back, Moving Forward. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 2006;54(8):1283-9.
- 16. Beales J, and Edes T. Veteran's affairs home based primary care. *Clin Geriatr Med.* 2009;25(149-54.
- 17. Cummings JE, Hughes SL, Weaver FM, and et al. Cost-effectiveness of veterans administration hospital-based home care: A randomized clinical trial. *Archives of Internal Medicine*. 1990;150(6):1274-80.

- 18. Edes T, Kinosian B, Vuckovic NH, Nichols LO, Becker MM, and Hossain M. Better access, quality and cost for clinically complex veterans with home-based primary care. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2014;62(10):1954-61.
- 19. De Jonge K, Jamshed N, Gilden D, Kubisiak J, Bruce S, and Taler G. Effects of home-based primary care on Medicare costs in high risk elders. *JAGS*. 2014;62(
- 20. Stanhope SA, Cooley MC, Ellington LF, Gadbois GP, Richardson AL, Zeddes TC, and LaBine JP. The effects of home-based primary care on Medicare costs at Spectrum Health/Priority Health (Grand Rapids, MI, USA) from 2012-present: a matched cohort study. *BMC Health Services Research*. 2018;18(1):161.
- 21. Reckrey JM, Soriano TA, Hernandez CR, DeCherrie LV, Chavez S, Zhang M, and Ornstein K. The Team Approach to Home-Based Primary Care: Restructuring Care to Meet Individual, Program, and System Needs. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 2015;63(2):358-64.
- 22. DeCherrie LV, Soriano T, and Hayashi J. Home-Based Primary Care: A Needed Primary-Care Model for Vulnerable Populations. *Mount Sinai Journal of Medicine: A Journal of Translational and Personalized Medicine.* 2012;79(4):425-32.
- 23. Elkan R, Kendrick D, Dewey M, Hewitt M, Robinson J, Blair M, Williams D, and Brummell K. Effectiveness of home based support for older people: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ* : *British Medical Journal*. 2001;323(7315):719-.
- 24. Stuck AE, Egger M, Hammer A, Minder CE, and Beck JC. Home visits to prevent nursing home admission and functional decline in elderly people: Systematic review and meta-regression analysis. *JAMA*. 2002;287(8):1022-8.
- 25. Mayo-Wilson E, Grant S, Burton J, Parsons A, Underhill K, and Montgomery P. Preventive home visits for mortality, morbidity, and institutionalization in older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PloS one*. 2014;9(3):e89257.
- 26. Huss A, Stuck AE, Rubenstein LZ, Egger M, and Clough-Gorr KM. Multidimensional preventive home visit programs for community-dwelling older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* 2008;63(3):298-307.
- 27. Mattke S, Han D, Wilks A, and Sloss E. Medicare Home Visit Program Associated With Fewer Hospital And Nursing Home Admissions, Increased Office Visits. *Health Affairs*. 2015;34(12):2138-46.
- 28. Ramsdell JW, Jackson JE, Guy HJB, and Renvall MJ. Comparison of Clinic-Based Home Assessment to a Home Visit in Demented Elderly Patients. *Alzheimer Disease & Associated Disorders*. 2004;18(3).
- 29. Desai NR, Smith KL, and Boal J. The positive financial contribution of home based primary care programs: The case of the Mount Sinai Visiting Doctors. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 2008;56(4):744-9.
- 30. AAHCM. IAH Demonstration. <u>http://www.iahnow.org/iah-demonstration/</u>. 2018.
- 31. Stuck A, and Kane RL. Whom do preventive home visits help? *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 2008;56(3):561-3.
- 32. Stoltz CM, Smith LG, and Boal JH. Home Care Training in Internal Medicine Residencies: A National Survey. *Academic Medicine*. 2001;76(2).

- 33. Tschudy MM, Platt RE, and Serwint JR. Extending the Medical Home Into the Community: A Newborn Home Visitation Program for Pediatric Residents. *Academic Pediatrics*. 2013;13(5):443-50.
- 34. Hayashi J, Christmas C, and Durso SC. Educational Outcomes from a Novel House Call Curriculum for Internal Medicine Residents: Report of a 3-Year Experience. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 2011;59(7):1340-9.
- 35. Kiely SC, and Prince PL. Long-Term Home Health Care for the Aged: The West Penn (Allegheny County, PA) Hospital Home Visit Program Experience. *The Journal of Long Term Home Health Care*. 1994;13(2):41-53.
- 36. Reckrey JM, Ornstein KA, Wajnberg A, Kopke MV, and DeCherrie LV. Teaching Home-Based Primary Care. *Home healthcare now*. 2017;35(10):561-5.
- 37. Dattalo M, Nothelle S, Tackett S, Larochelle M, Porto-Carreiro F, Yu E, and Hanyok LA. Frontline Account: Targeting Hot Spotters in an Internal Medicine Residency Clinic. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*. 2014;29(9):1305-7.
- 38. Nothelle SK, Christmas C, and Hanyok LA. First-Year Internal Medicine Residents' Reflections on Nonmedical Home Visits to High-Risk Patients. *Teaching and learning in medicine*. 2018;30(1):95-102.
- 39. Hayashi J, and Christmas C. House Calls and the ACGME Competencies. *Teaching and Learning in Medicine*. 2009;21(2):140-7.
- 40. Markakis KM, Beckman HB, Suchman AL, and Frankel RM. The Path of Professionalism: Cultivating Humanistic Values and Attitudes in Residency Training. *Academic Medicine*. 2000;75(2):141-9.
- Schoenborn NL, and Christmas C. Getting Out of Silos: An Innovative Transitional Care Curriculum for Internal Medicine Residents Through Experiential Interdisciplinary Learning. *Journal of Graduate Medical Education*. 2013;5(4):681-5.
- 42. Roane DM, Teusink JP, and Wortham JA. Home Visits in Geropsychiatry Fellowship Training. *The Gerontologist.* 2002;42(1):109-13.
- 43. Jakubovicz D, and Srivastava A. Home visits in family medicine residency: Evaluation of 8 years of a training program. *Canadian Family Physician*. 2015;61(4):e189-e95.
- 44. Sairenji T, Wilson SA, D'Amico F, and Peterson LE. Training Family Medicine Residents to Perform Home Visits: A CERA Survey. *Journal of Graduate Medical Education*. 2016;9(1):90-6.
- 45. Kellogg FR, and Brickner PW. Long-Term Home Health Care for the Impoverished Frail Homebound Aged: A Twenty-Seven-Year Experience. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 2000;48(8):1002-11.
- 46. Young R, Freiberg E, and Stringham P. The Home Visit in the Multidisciplinary Teaching of Primary Care Physicians. *Journal of Medical Education*. 1981;56(1):341-6.
- 47. Wilson JD, Shaw KC, and Feldman LS. Using Post-discharge Home Visitation to Improve Cultural Sensitivity and Patient-centered Discharge Planning by Internal Medicine Trainees. *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved*. 2018;29(4):1288-99.
- 48. Schamess A, Foraker R, Kretovics M, Barnes K, Beatty S, Bose-Brill S, and Tayal N. Reduced emergency room and hospital utilization in persons with

multiple chronic conditions and disability receiving home-based primary care. *Disability and health journal*. 2017;10(2):326-33.

- Bogetz JF, Rassbach CE, Bereknyei S, Mendoza FS, Sanders LM, and Braddock CH. Training Health Care Professionals for 21st-Century Practice: A Systematic Review of Educational Interventions on Chronic Care. *Academic Medicine*. 2015;90(11):1561-72.
- 50. Nadkarni M, Reddy S, Bates CK, Fosburgh B, Babbott S, and Holmboe E. Ambulatory-Based Education in Internal Medicine: Current Organization and Implications for Transformation. Results of A National Survey of Resident Continuity Clinic Directors. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*. 2011;26(1):16-20.
- 51. Caines LC, Brockmeyer DM, Tess AV, Kim H, Kriegel G, and Bates CK. The Revolving Door of Resident Continuity Practice: Identifying Gaps in Transitions of Care. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*. 2011;26(9):995.
- 52. Pincavage AT, Lee WW, Beiting KJ, and Arora VM. What Do Patients Think About Year-End Resident Continuity Clinic Handoffs?: A Qualitative Study. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*. 2013;28(8):999-1007.
- 53. Prins JT, Gazendam-Donofrio SM, Tubben BJ, Van Der Heijden FMMA, Van De Wiel HBM, and Hoekstra-Weebers JEHM. Burnout in medical residents: a review. *Medical Education*. 2007;41(8):788-800.
- 54. Hillhouse JJ, Adler CM, and Walters DN. A simple model of stress, burnout and symptomatology in medical residents: a longitudinal study. *Psychology, Health & Medicine*. 2000;5(1):63.
- 55. Shanafelt TD, Bradley KA, Wipf JE, and Back AL. Burnout and Self-Reported Patient Care in an Internal Medicine Residency Program. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. 2002;136(5):358-67.
- 56. Dunn PM, Arnetz BB, Christensen JF, and Homer L. Meeting the Imperative to Improve Physician Well-being: Assessment of an Innovative Program. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*. 2007;22(11):1544-52.
- 57. Krasner MS, Epstein RM, Beckman H, and et al. ASsociation of an educational program in mindful communication with burnout, empathy, and attitudes among primary care physicians. *JAMA*. 2009;302(12):1284-93.
- 58. Doolittle BR, Windish DM, and Seelig CB. Burnout, Coping, and Spirituality Among Internal Medicine Resident Physicians. *Journal of Graduate Medical Education*. 2013;5(2):257-61.
- 59. A Ripp J, Privitera M, West C, Leiter R, Logio L, Shapiro J, and Bazari H. *Well-Being in Graduate Medical Education: A Call for Action.* 2017.
- 60. Horowitz CR, Suchman AL, Branch JWT, and Frankel RM. What Do Doctors Find Meaningful about Their Work? *Annals of Internal Medicine*. 2003;138(9):772-5.
- 61. Shanafelt TD, West C, Zhao X, Novotny P, Kolars J, Habermann T, and Sloan J. Relationship Between Increased Personal Well-Being and Enhanced Empathy Among Internal Medicine Residents. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*. 2005;20(7):559-64.
- 62. Rabin TL. Waterbury, CT: Waterbury Hospital Medicine Grand Rounds; January 17, 2014.

- 63. Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services. Medicare Claims Processing Manual. 2018.
- 64. Rabin TL, Howell, B, and Rosenbaum, J.R. Alliance for Academic Internal Medicine (AAIM) Academic Internal Medicine Week Precourse: Making Our Learners and Faculty Champions of Social Justice and Promoting Health Equity for Our Patients. Baltimore, MD; 2017.
- 65. Charlson ME, Pompei P, Ales KL, and MacKenzie CR. A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: Development and validation. *Journal of Chronic Diseases*. 1987;40(5):373-83.
- 66. Charlson ME, Charlson RE, Peterson JC, Marinopoulos SS, Briggs WM, and Hollenberg JP. The Charlson comorbidity index is adapted to predict costs of chronic disease in primary care patients. *Journal of clinical epidemiology*. 2008;61(12):1234-40.
- 67. Charlson M, Szatrowski TP, Peterson J, and Gold J. Validation of a combined comorbidity index. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*. 1994;47(11):1245-51.
- 68. Smith-Carrier T, Sinha SK, Nowaczynski M, Akhtar S, Seddon G, and Pham T-N. It 'makes you feel more like a person than a patient': patients' experiences receiving home-based primary care (HBPC) in Ontario, Canada. *Health & Social Care in the Community*. 2017;25(2):723-33.
- 69. Muramatsu N, Mensah E, and Cornwell T. A Physician House Call Program for the Homebound. *The Joint Commission Journal on Quality and Safety*. 2004;30(5):266-76.
- 70. Shafir A, Garrigues SK, Schenker Y, Leff B, Neil J, and Ritchie C. Homebound Patient and Caregiver Perceptions of Quality of Care in Home-Based Primary Care: A Qualitative Study. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 2016;64(8):1622-7.